District of Columbia Court of Appeals

Clerk of the Court Received 06/18/2024 04:23 PM Filed 06/18/2024 04:23 PM

EDUARDO MALDONADO,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division Case No. 2023-CF1-002066, The Honorable Judith Smith

APPELLANT EDUARDO MALDONADO'S OPENING BRIEF

James W. Kraus (DC Bar No. 471945) KRAUS JENKINS PLLC 650 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 600 Washington, DC 20001 (202) 888-7681 jkraus@krausjenkins.com

Counsel for Appellant Eduardo Maldonado

LIST OF INTERESTED PARTIES

INTRODUCTION

At its most fundamental level, criminal law distinguishes between actus reas and mens rea, requiring the establishment of both before assigning guilt and assessing punishment. With this distinction, the law acknowledges that it is possible for an individual to suffer harm that was innocently inflicted. Such is the case here.

The Complainant in this matter had a sexual encounter that fell below her subjective comfort level, undoubtedly causing her harm. Without diminishing the Complainant's experience, however, it can also be—and is—true that Appellant Eduardo Maldonado had no intention of harming the Complainant and, after an evening of light drinking, dancing, and heavy petting, reasonably believed that the Complainant willingly participated in their sexual conduct at every stage. The trial court lacked sufficient evidence to find otherwise.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is timely appeal from a final judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Criminal Division.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether there was sufficient evidence from which the trial court could find that Mr. Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have the Complainant's consent to engage in oral sex.
- 2. Whether there was sufficient evidence from which the trial court could find that Mr. Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have the Complainant's consent to engage in sexual intercourse via vaginal penetration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 12, 2023, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia found Appellant Eduardo Maldonado guilty of two counts of misdemeanor sexual abuse following a bench trial. (R. 120, Sentence of the Court p. 1). Based on this finding, the court sentenced Mr. Maldonado to two consecutive terms of 180 days' incarceration, which the court suspended pending 2 years of supervised probation. (*Id.*) This appeal challenges the sufficiency of the evidence underlying the court's judgment.

On the evening of September 16, 2022, Mr. Maldonado and the Complainant, A.R., met at a nightclub and had what A.R. described as a "fabulous" night that included dancing, grinding, kissing, and sensual touching. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 57:17–64:5.)

As the evening of September 16 turned into the wee hours of September 17, Mr. Maldonado and A.R. decided to leave the club. On their way out, A.R. encountered one of the club's bouncers who described the Complainant as certainly "drunk," but not so intoxicated that she was unable to navigate the club's steep, narrow stairs, which were a challenge "even if you're sober." (Trial Tr. (10/24/2023) 57:20–58:10, 66:15).

Once outside, both A.R. and Mr. Maldonado testified that they began looking for transportation home. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 78:21–24; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 30:23–25). However, according to Mr. Maldonado, and undisputed by the Complainant, neither could find a car within a reasonable wait time due to the high demand for car services and street closures in the area. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 30:23–31:4). To increase their chances of finding an Uber or Lyft, Mr. Maldonado testified that he encouraged A.R. to walk

away from the club toward a more vehicle-accessible street. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 48:25–49:6).

Along their walk, Mr. Maldonado and the Complainant stopped at a church, where A.R. leaned back on the side of the steps and used her phone to search for a rideshare and to text her mom and others. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 10:1–10, 79:24–80:1). Although Mr. Maldonado and the Complainant disagree about whether there was a discussion regarding oral sex at this time (compare Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 12:19–25, with Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 29:22–30:1), both agreed that Mr. Maldonado briefly performed oral sex on the Complainant while they waited on the steps. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 11:14–13:15; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 29:16–30:5). According to both the Complainant and Mr. Maldonado, the interaction stopped not because the Complainant did not consent to the contact, but because they were in public. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 13:1-13:9; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 30:1-20). Both Mr. Maldonado and the Complainant agreed that she did not instruct Mr. Maldonado to stop the contact, nor did the Complainant express any displeasure with Mr. Maldonado's contact. (Id.) Instead, after Mr.

Maldonado stopped performing oral sex, they walked away from the steps and went to a more secluded location, with the Complainant voluntarily joining Mr. Maldonado. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 13:12–14:7; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 31:5–16).

According to surveillance footage, the pair walked behind a wall, to a more secluded location, at approximately 00:14 on September 17. (Trial Tr. 87:18-88:1). At this point in time, A.R. testified that her memory of the night fades, even admitting that her memory regarding the timing of the experience was entirely different from what the video footage depicted. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 94:6-8, 100:15-18, 129:12-21). In the Complainant's memory, she and Mr. Maldonado began having sex immediately after they entered the secluded area. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 99:2–7). According to Mr. Maldonado, however, he and A.R. first began kissing, and then increased their level of intimacy through sexual touching and oral sex. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 32:3–25).

At 00:30, fifteen minutes after the pair entered the secluded area, A.R. initiated a recording of the encounter, which required her to complete a

series of steps on her phone. (Trial Tr. (10/30/2023) 98:13–101:10). The video, which is primarily audio due to the angle of the phone and the time of night, provides just under three minutes of the encounter and reflects moaning that the Complainant identified as her voice. (Government's Exhibit 13; Trial Tr. (10/30/2023) 35:25–1). After a period of moaning, Mr. Maldonado expressly asked for the Complainant's permission to engage in sexual acts, to which the Complainant responded that she was not sober. (Government's Exhibit 13). The Complainant continued moaning, at which point Mr. Maldonado asked for a clear "yes or no" answer as to whether she was comfortable and wanted him to continue. (Id.) At this point, the Complainant said, for the first time, "No." (Id.) In immediate response, Mr. Maldonado stopped what he was doing, and stated, "I didn't know." He then lay down beside the Complainant, where they continued kissing and talking. The Complainant then stopped her video recording. (*Id.*)

Approximately ten minutes later, A.R. initiated a second video recording. (*See* Government's Exhibit 14; *see also* Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 103:14–19). This process required A.R. to, again, complete a series of steps

on her phone. As with the first video, the second video is primarily audio; however, a woman's leg is visible on the right-hand side of the screen. (See generally Government's Exhibit 14). Despite A.R. being shown this video during trial, she did not testify to what the video depicted, nor did she testify to what occurred in the ten minutes between the two videos. (See generally Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 37:10-53:9). Mr. Maldonado, on the other hand, did provide testimony about this time period, truthfully explaining that he could not definitively say whether they were engaged in sex, but he believed he was just massaging and kissing her legs at this point. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 56:21–57:2, 65:9–16). The video then depicts Mr. Maldonado talking with the Complainant about their night, acknowledging that they had sex at some point in the evening, and that he was happy to have met her. (See Government's Exhibit 14).

Shortly after the Complainant ends the second recording, surveillance footage shows A.R. leaving the secluded area. (*See* Government's Exhibit 17 at 00:46:58–00:47:09). A.R. testified that she was able to get up and leave on her own. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 104:17–20). Upon leaving the secluded area,

the Complainant encountered a couple of individuals, one of whom testified at trial. According to the witness, the Complainant stated that a male individual, who the witness did not identify at the time of trial, raped her. (Trial Tr. (10/23/2023) 31:13–16). He then testified that the unidentified male individual, who was still with A.R., denied the allegations, at which point the witness told the man to leave. (Trial Tr. (10/23/2023) 32:9–11).

In his testimony Mr. Maldonado, explained that when the intercourse began, he understood that A.R. "was okay with sex" between them and that, throughout their encounter, they "were always gauging each other's temperature" on what acts were permissible, as demonstrated on the videos taken by the Complainant. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 58:9–21, 63:2–6). Mr. Maldonado also explained that after he and the Complainant left the secluded area, he was "shocked by the behavior of the guys" he and A.R. encountered on the street. (Trial. Tr. 11/1/2023) 41:2–7). Although he felt as though he had not done anything to warrant an "aggressive response" from the men, Mr. Maldonado decided to simply leave as they requested,

particularly because one of the men was larger than Mr. Maldonado, and he did not want to risk being injured. (Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 41:7–13).

At the close of trial, the court issued its ruling, finding Mr. Maldonado guilty on two of the four counts brought against him: Count I for misdemeanor sexual abuse by vaginal penetration and Count II for misdemeanor sexual abuse by cunnilingus. The court determined that the Government had not met its burden on Counts III and IV, additional counts of sexual abuse, because it did not provide a clear timeline of when these allegedly improper acts occurred, leaving an open question regarding consent. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 29:13–31:8).

With respect to Count I, the court placed particular emphasis on the recordings taken on the Complainant's phone. (*See generally* Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 11:11–14:20, 23:1–27:7). The court recognized that Mr. Maldonado repeatedly asked for A.R.'s consent and clarity on what sexual acts were permissible, and that Mr. Maldonado stopped when the Complainant told him to stop. (Trail Tr. (12/12/2023) 24:13–19). Despite Mr. Maldonado's efforts to ensure he had the Complainant's approval for his

actions, the court determined that "having to ask [for clarity] means that it was not clear" and that even though it "may not have been as clear that she *wasn't* consenting . . . he should have known." (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 26:15–27:7) (emphasis added). Therefore, the court found Mr. Maldonado guilty of Count I. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 27:11–22).

As for Count II, which pertains to Mr. Maldonado performing oral sex on the church steps, the court began by acknowledging that the evidence was "slightly less clear." (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 28:5–10). However, the court determined that the Government met its burden because "[t]here is no testimony from the defendant that he even asked. He just initiated." (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 28:16–17). And because of this "lack of any conversation," despite acknowledging that "there had been some sexual discussion," the court determined that Mr. Maldonado should have known that A.R. "was not consenting" to the sexual contact. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 29:3–8).

At sentencing, the court imposed two consecutive terms of 180 days' confinement; however, the court suspended the sentence, placing Mr. Maldonado on a two-year period of probation, drug and alcohol testing and

treatment if needed, and a sexual offender evaluation and treatment, if recommended. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 42:13–22).

Mr. Maldonado now appeals from the court's final order of judgment and sentence.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Maldonado took every reasonable step to check in with the Complainant throughout their interactions, and when she withdrew her consent, he stopped. In other words, Mr. Maldonado did exactly what he was supposed to do to respect his sexual partner and her boundaries. Instead of recognizing Mr. Maldonado's efforts to ensure he and the Complainant were always on the same page, the trial court imposed two contradictory rulings that place Mr. Maldonado in a guilty position no matter his actions.

On the one hand, the trial court found Mr. Maldonado guilty of Count I because he *did* ask for consent and clarity regarding A.R.'s desire to continue a sexual encounter, stating that "having to ask [for clarity] means that it was not clear." On the other hand, the trial court found Mr. Maldonado guilty of Count II because he did *not* ask A.R. whether he could

perform oral sex "right there, right then," even though the pair were contemporaneously engaged in "some sexual discussion" and touching. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 29:3–8). These two opposing rulings, which leave a confounding question of how consent can be ascertained, demonstrate the evidentiary weaknesses of this case and the lack of proof, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Maldonado committed sexual abuse.

ARGUMENT

Mr. Maldonado does not deny that the Complainant was harmed by their sexual encounter, and, in fact, he expressed remorse for this at trial. (Trial Tr. (12/12/2023) 39:1–8). But the Complainant's subjective harm alone does not mean a crime occurred. To the contrary, the Government was required to show that Mr. Maldonado knew or had reason to know that he did not have the Complainant's permission for their sexual contact. *See* D.C. Code § 22-3006. The Government failed to meet its burden, demonstrated by the court's contradictory ruling. As such, Mr. Maldonado's conviction should be vacated on both Counts I and II.

Although deferential, this Court's review of the sufficiency of the evidence "is not toothless." Augustin v. United States, 240 A.3d 816, 824 (D.C. 2020) (internal quotation omitted). This Court has "an obligation to take seriously the requirement that the evidence in a criminal prosecution must be strong enough that a factfinder behaving rationally really could find it persuasive beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis added) (cleaned up). Therefore, each element must be supported by relevant record evidence, though the fact of relevant evidence "does not automatically make it sufficient to support a criminal conviction." Id. (internal quotation omitted). Deferring to the trial judge's assessment of witness credibility and drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the verdict, a trial judge's factual findings may be reversed where they are plainly wrong or without evidence to support them." Id. Such is the case here.

Addressing the allegations against Mr. Maldonado in chronological order, this brief first challenges the sufficiency of the evidence concerning Count II before turning to the evidentiary shortcomings of Count I.

I. The trial court lacked sufficient evidence to find Mr. Maldonado guilty of sexual abuse by oral sex beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court found Mr. Maldonado guilty of sexual abuse because there was no evidence that Mr. Maldonado and the Complainant discussed Mr. Maldonado performing oral sex at that moment, on the steps of the church, before he did so. This, however, is not the standard. The Government was required to demonstrate that Mr. Maldonado engaged in oral sex with the Complainant, despite knowing or having reason to know that he did not have her permission based on her statements *or* actions. The evidence does not support such a finding.

As detailed above, Mr. Maldonado and A.R. stopped on the church steps to continue their search for a ride home. While there, the pair engaged in sexual discussions specifically related to oral sex, and, in turn, Mr. Maldonado briefly performed oral sex on A.R. The Complainant did not tell Mr. Maldonado to stop or even that the contact was unwanted. To the contrary, she testified that she did not register the contact at first (suggesting it was not yet occurring), and that when she did notice what was happening, she simply moved, and the act stopped. Both A.R. and Mr. Maldonado

testified that the act came to an end because they were in public—not because the act was generally unwanted. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 13:1–13:9; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 30:1–20). Tellingly, the Complainant was actively communicating with others via text message at the time the oral sex occurred, but she did not indicate she was unsafe or had been violated. (*See* Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 11:16–19). In fact, after the contact ended, A.R. voluntarily left with Mr. Maldonado and continued to a separate, secluded location. (Trial Tr. (10/31/2023) 13:12–14:7; Trial Tr. (11/1/2023) 31:5–16).

These facts do not support a finding that Mr. Maldonado engaged in sexual contact knowing, or with reason to know, that he did not have A.R.'s permission. The Complainant was engaged in conversation with Mr. Maldonado at the time, she was coherently texting multiple other individuals, she was aware of her surroundings (such as the presence of other people), and, according to her testimony, she had the capacity to stop the sexual encounter by moving, standing up, and eventually walking to another location with Mr. Maldonado. The record further reflects that in the moments leading up to this encounter, A.R. and the Complainant were

flirting, touching, kissing, and even discussing oral sex, building on a conversation and touching that had occurred earlier at the club. Contra Harkins v. United States, 810 A.2d 895, 901 (D.C. 2002) (finding sufficient evidence of knowledge where victim recoiled from defendant's touch, exclaimed, "No, you can't do that," in response to defendant's touch, and repeatedly moved away from defendant); Olafisoye v. United States, 857 A.2d 1078, 1086 (D.C. 2004) (finding sufficient evidence of knowledge where defendant continued to touch victim's breasts after victim instructed defendant to stop); Hughes v. United States, 150 A.3d 289, 306-07 (D.C. 2016) (finding sufficient evidence where defendant's touching caused physical injury to victim and victim instructed defendant not to hit her on the buttocks again).

Despite this record evidence, the court found that Mr. Maldonado should have known he did not have A.R.'s consent because there was not a discussion wherein Mr. Maldonado expressly stated he was going to perform oral sex "right there, right then" prior to doing so. But a requirement that there be a discussion of the specific sexual contact prior to

occurrence is not the standard for consent. As defined by D.C. Code § 22-3001(4), consent can come in the form of "words" or "actions" that "indicat[e] a freely given agreement to the sexual act or contact in question." The Government had the burden of demonstrating that, despite A.R.'s overt actions of touching and kissing Mr. Maldonado and their sexually charged conversations, Mr. Maldonado should have known he did not have her consent. The trial court's own holding demonstrates that the Government did not satisfy this burden.

Most tellingly, the trial court itself acknowledged that the evidence of sexual abuse is "less clear" with respect to Count II. To satisfy the standard of "proof beyond a reasonable doubt," the court was required "to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilty of the accused." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979). This standard requires more than proof that guilt is "highly probable." (*Darius*) *Smith v. United States*, 709 A.2d 78, 82 (D.C. 1998) (en banc). An essential component of due process, proof beyond a reasonable doubt demands acquittal where there is "the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person, after careful and thoughtful reflection, to

hesitate to act in the graver and more important matters of life." *Rivas v. United States*, 783 A.2d 125, 133 (D.C. 2001) (quoting *Smith*, 709 A.2d at 82). This is exactly the type of doubt the court expressed when it acknowledged that the evidence of guilt was "less clear" with respect to Count II, and it is exactly the doubt that is demanded by the evidence in the record.

Because the Government did not prove, and the trial court did not find, that Mr. Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s consent for oral sex beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court must reverse Mr. Maldonado's conviction of guilt with respect to Count II.

II. The trial court lacked sufficient evidence to find Mr. Maldonado guilty of sexual abuse by vaginal penetration beyond a reasonable doubt.

Although the court was less equivocal in its finding with respect to Count I than Count II, the evidence still failed to support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

As noted, the court relied primarily on the videos that A.R. recorded on her phone, which fail to capture the first fifteen minutes that Mr. Maldonado and A.R. were in the secluded area and at least ten essential

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