BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CF-7

Clerk of the Court
Received 09/17/2024 11:47 AM
Filed 09/17/2024 11:47 AM

EDUARDO MALDONADO,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB AMANDA SWANSON

- * DYLAN M. ALUISE D.C. Bar # 90018755 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Dylan.Aluise@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CF1-2066

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence was sufficient to convict Maldonado on both counts of MSA. *First*, the trial court correctly applied the law governing consent, which requires words or overt actions manifesting a person's freely given agreement to the specific sexual act in question, to determine that

¹² The trial court acquitted Maldonado of the charged non-consensual cunnilingus and fellatio in the garden, finding that the government had not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that those acts occurred after A.R. gave a "clear . . . indication of no consent" as depicted in Exhibit 13 (12/12/23 Tr. 29-30; see id. at 26).

Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s consent to have oral sex in public. As the trial court recognized, Maldonado never sought or received A.R.'s permission to expose her genitalia and put his mouth on her vulva while she was reclining on public steps just feet from pedestrians on a busy sidewalk. Because Maldonado nevertheless initiated cunnilingus, the trial court appropriately found that he knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s permission to perform that public sex act.

Second, the trial court did not clearly err in finding that Maldonado had intercourse with A.R. after she told him, "no," and that she was "not sober." The trial court carefully reviewed video evidence capturing two separate instances in which Maldonado had sex with A.R. and credited A.R.'s testimony that Maldonado performed various sex acts on her after she withheld her consent. Indeed, because A.R. made her lack of consent clear by telling Maldonado, "no," and that she was "not sober," the trial court correctly found that he knew or should have known he did not have A.R.'s permission to initiate sexual intercourse. A.R.'s lack of consent was further established by the fact that she had "blacked out" in the garden before the intercourse occurred and remained severely intoxicated later

when police arrived. Furthermore, Maldonado's own conduct evidenced his knowledge of A.R.'s vulnerable state: he falsely claimed to have had an on-going relationship with A.R. when confronted by the security guard and he fled after A.R. promptly reported the rape to a concerned citizen.

ARGUMENT

There Was Sufficient Evidence to Support Maldonado's MSA Convictions for Initiating Oral and Vaginal Sex Without A.R.'s Permission.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence de novo. *Hughes v. United States*, 150 A.3d 289, 305 (D.C. 2016). It will not reverse a conviction if "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements charged beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bassil v. United States*, 147 A.3d 303, 307 (D.C. 2016) (cleaned up) (emphasis in original). Thus, it is appellant's "heavy burden" to show that there was "no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Dorsey v. United States*, 154 A.3d 106, 112 (D.C. 2017) (citation omitted). In assessing the evidence, the Court views the record "in the light most favorable to the government, drawing all reasonable

inferences in [its] favor, and giving deference to the [fact-finder]'s right to determine credibility and weight." *Bruce v. United States*, 305 A.3d 381, 392 (D.C. 2023) (cleaned up).

Following a bench trial, the Court reviews a trial court's factual findings for clear error. *District of Columbia v. Bongam*, 271 A.3d 1154, 1162 (D.C. 2022); *see* D.C. Code § 17–305(a). When there are "two permissible views of the evidence," the trial judge's "choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous." *Anderson v. City of Bessemer, N.C.*, 470 U.S. 564, 573–74 (1985) (cleaned up). That is so even when its "findings do not rest on credibility determinations, but are based instead on ... documentary evidence or inferences from other facts." *Id.* (cleaned up). If the trial court's factual findings are "plausible" based on the record, then this Court "may not reverse" them even if it "would have weighed the evidence differently." *Id.* (cleaned up).

To establish MSA based on a sexual act, the government must prove: (1) the defendant committed a sexual act, and (2) knew or should have known that he did not have the complainant's permission to initiate that act. *Mungo v. United States*, 772 A.2d 240, 244–45 (D.C. 2005); see D.C. Code § 22–3006(a). Sexual acts include "penetration, however slight,

of the . . . vulva of another by a penis," and "[c]ontact between . . . the mouth and the vulva." D.C. Code §§ 22–3001(8)(A), (B). Although the statute does not define "permission," this Court has recognized that it is synonymous with "consent." *Davis v. United States*, 873 A.2d 1101, 1104 (D.C. 2005). Consent is defined as "words or overt actions indicating a freely given agreement to the sexual act or contact in question." D.C. Code § 22–3001(4).

B. Maldonado Knew or Should Have Known That He Did Not Have A.R.'s Permission When He Initiated Cunnilingus in Public Without Seeking or Obtaining Her Consent.

The trial court correctly determined that the government established beyond a reasonable doubt that Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s permission to perform cunnilingus on her in public (12/12/23 Tr. 28–29). As the court observed, Maldonado never sought or received A.R.'s permission before initiating that public sex act (12/12/23 Tr. 7, 28–29; see 10/31/23 Tr. 12; 11/1/23 Tr. 29–30). Recognizing that consent turns on words or overt actions manifesting an agreement to the specific sexual act in question, the court correctly determined that Maldonado knew or should have known that

he did not have A.R.'s permission to perform oral sex on her on the public steps $(12/12/23 \text{ Tr. } 28-31).^{13}$

Maldonado argues (Br. 16–17) that it is unnecessary to obtain a person's consent for a "specific sexual contact prior to [its] occurrence," and claims that he did not know he lacked A.R.'s permission because of their earlier flirtations and discussions of going home or to a hotel to have sex. The Court should reject this contention. As the trial court correctly observed, consent turns on whether a person uses "words or overt actions indicating a freely given agreement to the sexual act or contact *in question*." D.C. Code § 22–3001(4) (emphasis added). Thus, the trial court appropriately rejected Maldonado's claim here that earlier flirtations, kissing, and discussions about going home or to a hotel to have sex provided blanket authority from A.R. to engage in sexual acts anywhere at any time, let alone provide specific permission to perform cunnilingus

¹³ Maldonado argues (Br. 15) that A.R. had the capacity to stop the sexual encounter by moving or standing up. That is of no consequence. The relevant inquiry for MSA is whether Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s permission to initiate oral sex while they were in public. See D.C. Code § 22–3006(a). That A.R. had the capability of terminating the sexual encounter after it started has no bearing on whether Maldonado knew or should have known that he had A.R.'s permission ex ante to initiate that public sex act.

on the public steps (see 12/12/23 Tr. 25, 27–29). ¹⁴ See, e.g., Hailstock v. United States, 85 A.3d 1277, 1279–82 (D.C. 2014) (finding evidence sufficient to support mens rea for MSA when defendant intended to have sexual contact with victim without first obtaining her consent to that specific act).

Maldonado further claims (Br. 17-18) that the trial court convicted him of MSA in connection with the public act of oral sex based upon a standard less than beyond a reasonable doubt. Although Judge Smith characterized the evidence related to Maldonado's non-consensual public cunnilingus as "slightly less clear" than A.R.'s expression of a "clear lack of consent" when she explicitly told Maldonado "no" and "I'm not sober" before he initiated intercourse, Judge Smith expressly found that the "government has met its burden" to prove MSA as to the public act of oral

¹⁴ Indeed, it defies reason to assume that A.R. would have risked arrest to have sex with Maldonado in such a public place when she could have waited just a few minutes for a car to take them home. See D.C. Code § 22–1312 (engaging in public sex acts and exposing one's genitals in public are crimes punishable by up to 90 days in prison); see also Torney v. United States, 300 A.3d 760, 782–83 (D.C. 2023) (reasoning that, in the absence of affirmative evidence of consent, it is "common sense" that "an individual would not choose to have anal sex" with a stranger in a yard when "she could have done so just steps away, inside her house").

sex (12/12/23 Tr. 26, 28, 30; see also *id*. at 27 (reciting burden and elements for MSA)). Trial judges are presumed to know the law and thus understand that the government must prove each element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt to convict a criminal defendant. *Saidi v*. *United States*, 110 A.3d 606, 613 (D.C. 2015). That is exactly what the trial court did here.

C. Maldonado Knew or Should Have Known That A.R. Did Not Consent to Sex When He Had Intercourse With Her After She Told Him "No" and "I'm Not Sober."

The trial court also correctly found beyond a reasonable doubt that Maldonado knew or should have known he did not have A.R.'s permission to have sexual intercourse after she signaled a "clear lack of consent" by telling him, "no," and that she was "not sober" (12/12/23 Tr. 12–14, 26, 30).

First, contrary to Maldonado's claim (Br. 20–21), the trial court did not clearly err in finding that Maldonado was having sexual intercourse with A.R. in Exhibit 14 (12/12/23 Tr. 13–14). The trial court reached that reasonable conclusion based on observing A.R.'s "feet and legs... up in the air," Maldonado "moving" on top of her between her legs, A.R.'s

repeatedly yelping "ow," and Maldonado making statements such as, "[d]o you like my d**k," and, "I'm not going to finish inside of you" (12/12/23 Tr. 13–14; see Exh. 14). A.R. also testified that Maldonado had sex with her after she told him that she was not sober in Exhibit 13 (10/31/23 Tr. 36; see *id.* at 38). And Maldonado conceded that he was "not sure" if he was having sex with A.R. in Exhibit 14 (11/1/23 Tr. 38, 57). The court's factual finding that Maldonado had sexual intercourse with A.R. in Exhibit 14 was a "plausible" and "permissible view" of the evidence and its reasonable inferences, and thus should not be reversed on appeal. *See Anderson*, 470 U.S. at 573–74.

Maldonado also claims (Br. 23–25) that the trial court erred by assuming that A.R. did not consent to sex in the 10-minute period between when she said, "no," and "I'm not sober" in Exhibit 13 and when Maldonado had sexual intercourse with her again in Exhibit 14. There was no error. To start, there was no evidence—from Maldonado's testimony or otherwise—that A.R. reversed her earlier position and freely consented to sexual intercourse with Maldonado in that short window. On the contrary, A.R. testified explicitly that Maldonado had sex with her after she told him no and that she was not sober in Exhibit 13

(10/31/23 Tr. 34–39). Moreover, it defies common sense to conclude that A.R. entered the garden unable to walk or stand without assistance (see Exh. 3 at 12:12:37–12:13:14; Exh. 12 at 00:14:40–00:14:50), miraculously regained sobriety and voluntarily consented to sex during that 10-minute period after telling Maldonado that she was not sober, and then resumed such an extreme state of intoxication minutes later when she was barely able to walk or speak (see 10/23/23 Tr. 27). The trial court's finding (12/12/23 Tr. 26-27) that A.R. did not voluntarily consent to sex in the garden was thus amply supported by the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom. See Rivas v. United States, 783 A.2d 125, 134 (D.C. 2001) (en banc) (distinguishing between the "vast range of reasonable inferences" finders of fact may draw from the evidence and unmoored "speculation" and "conjecture") (citation omitted); see also Olafisoye v. United States, 857 A.2d 1078, 1087 (D.C. 2004) (finding evidence of MSA) sufficient when defendant touched victim's breasts days after she told him to stop doing so).¹⁵

¹⁵ Even if the trial court's factual findings regarding Exhibit 14 were plainly erroneous, there is still sufficient evidence to sustain Maldonado's conviction for MSA based on unconsented vaginal intercourse. The trial court found that Maldonado had sexual intercourse with A.R. in Exhibit (continued . . .)

Second, the evidence supported the trial court's conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt that Maldonado knew or should have known that he did not have A.R.'s permission when he had sexual intercourse with her after she expressed a "clear lack of consent" by telling him "no" and that she was "not sober" as he escalated the sexual encounter (12/12/23 Tr. 12–14, 23, 26–28, 30; see 10/31/23 Tr. 34–39; 11/1/23 Tr. 34–35, 38, 57; Exhs. 13, 14).

As an initial matter, there is only one reasonable way to interpret the response "I'm not sober" in the context of asking whether a partner consents to a sexual act after a night out drinking: that the partner cannot—and does not—voluntarily consent to that act. ¹⁶ See, e.g.,

¹³ after she told him that she was "not sober," which indicated to Maldonado her "clear lack of consent" (12/12/23 Tr. 12–13, 26, 30; see also 10/31/23 Tr. 34–39; Exh. 13).

¹⁶ Beyond A.R. explicitly telling Maldonado that she was not sober, the trial court also correctly observed that A.R.'s level of intoxication and cognitive impairment would have been obvious to Maldonado (12/12/23 Tr. 21–25, 30–31). Prior to having sex with her, Maldonado witnessed A.R. having such extreme difficulty typing on her phone that he offered to help her with that simple task (10/23/23 Tr. 58); he had to support her as she struggled to maintain balance and walk straight (see Exh. 3 at 12:12:37–12:13:14); and he was right next to her as she collapsed to the ground in the garden (10/31/23 Tr. 15, 18–20; 11/1/23 Tr. 32, 49; see Exh. 12 at 00:14:40–00:14:50).

Augustin v. United States, 240 A.3d 816, 820 (D.C. 2020) (noting that the District's sexual-abuse statute prohibits "the commission of a sexual act . . . without the victim's consent . . . by taking advantage of the victim's . . . impairment") (cleaned up); In re M.S., 171 A.3d 155, 164 (D.C. 2017) (observing that sexual abuse "might involve proof of the victim's intoxication" as evidence of non-consent) (citation omitted). The trial court's conclusion that A.R.'s intoxication provided a "clear" signal to Maldonado that A.R. did not consent to sex reflects that common-sense conclusion (12/12/23 Tr. 12–14, 26–27, 30).

And beyond her intoxication, there is no clearer way for a person to express that he or she does not consent to a sexual act than by saying "no," as A.R. did here. See, e.g., Hughes v. United States, 150 A.3d at 305—

Maldonado incorrectly asserts (Br. 25–26) that *Cardozo v. United States* supports his claims. 255 A.3d 979 (D.C. 2021), *vacated in part*, 268 A.3d 862 (D.C. 2022), *and on reh'g en banc*, 315 A.3d 658 (D.C. 2024). *Cardozo* is inapposite. That case, involving fourth-degree sexual abuse, concerned whether a victim had the capacity to apprise and decline a sexual contact when her assailant snuck up on her from behind and grabbed her breasts and buttocks. 255 A.3d at 981, 983–87. While the Court reasoned that surprise did not vitiate the victim's capacity in those respects, it explicitly recognized that "temporary circumstances" such as "being . . . under the influence of . . . alcohol, can constitute 'incapab[ility]' for purposes of the sexual-abuse statute." *Id.* at 985 (collecting cases).

07 (finding evidence sufficient for MSA conviction after defendant hit victim in the buttocks after she told him not to do so anymore); *Olafisoye*, 857 A.2d at 1087 (sustaining MSA conviction for defendant touching victim's breasts after she told him to stop); *Outlaw v. United States*, 854 A.2d 169, 170 (D.C. 2004) (affirming MSA conviction because defendant had sexual intercourse with victim after she told him "no"). 18

A.R.'s lack of consent and Maldonado's intent to exploit A.R.'s intoxication to engage in sexual conduct were also corroborated by other

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